IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 96,453

THOMAS H. PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Chief Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0320234

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's Order Finding Defendant Competent To Be Executed pursuant to an evidentiary hearing conducted under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.811 and 3.812.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in the instant case:

"R" -- record on appeal to this Court.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This Court has already scheduled an oral argument in this case for September 14, 1999.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT i
TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES iii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
A. Procedural History
B. Statement of Facts
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT I
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND VIOLATED APPELLANT'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BY
FAILING TO PROVIDE A FULL AND FAIR HEARING AS TO APPELLANT'S COMPETENCY TO BE EXECUTED
The Court abused it's discretion by denying Appellant's motions to continue
The court erred by refusing to accept Dr. Fleming as an expert in Clinical Psychology because she didn't have a Ph.D, and thereby
gave her testimony little weight 20
ARGUMENT II
WHETHER FLA.R.CRIM.P. 3.811 AND 3.812, AS APPLIED, VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION AS APPLIED?
CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT
CERTIFICATE OF FONT SIZE AND SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES Page Cooper v. Oklahoma, 517 U.S. 348, 116 S.Ct. 1373, 134 L.Ed. 2d 498 (1996) 27 Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S. Ct. 788, 23 In re Ford-Kaus, 730 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1999) 28 Jones v. Butterworth, 695 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1997) 688 So.2d 383 (Fla. App. 4th DCA 1997) 20 McKay v. State, Provenzano v. Florida, U.S. S. Ct. Case No. 99-5107 (July 6, 1999) 1 Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986),

Fla. S. Ct. Case No. 95,849, (opinion filed July 1, 1999) 1

Provenzano v. State,

Provenzano v. State,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural History

Mr. Provenzano was convicted of First Degree Murder and two counts of Attempted Murder in 1984. Mr. Provenzano was sentenced to death.

Mr. Provenzano's convictions were affirmed on direct appeal in Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986), cert denied, 481 U.S. 1024 (1987). Since then, Mr. Provenzano's postconviction appeals have been denied. Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1990); Provenzano v. State, 616 So.2d 428 (Fla. 1993); Provenzano v. State, Fla. S. Ct. Case No. 95,849, (opinion filed July 1, 1999), cert. denied, Provenzano v. Florida, U.S. S. Ct. Case No. 99-5107 (July 6, 1999).

On June 9, 1999, the Governor of Florida signed a death warrant for Mr. Provenzano. Mr. Provenzano's execution was first scheduled for July 7, 1999, at 7:00 a.m. On July 5, 1999, Mr. Provenzano filed a notice to the Governor, pursuant to Section 922.07, Florida Statutes, that Mr. Provenzano was insane to be executed. On July 6, 1999, the Governor appointed three mental health experts to examine Mr. Provenzano¹ to determine if he was insane to be executed.

On July 6, 1999, Dr. Myers, Dr. Waldman, and D.O. Parsons examined Mr. Provenzano and found him to be competent to be executed. On July 5, 1999, Dr. Fleming was requested by Mr.

¹Dr. Parsons was not one of the original doctors assigned to examine Mr. Provenzano.

Provenzano's counsel to examine the appellant. Dr. Fleming examined Mr. Provenzano on July 5, 1999, and found him not competent to be executed. On July 6, 1999, Governor Bush entered an order lifting the stay of execution for Mr. Provenzano. The Governor's order reinstated the execution for July 7, 1999, at 7:00 a.m.

Counsel for Mr. Provenzano filed a Combined Emergency Motion for a Stay of Execution Pending Judicial Determination of Competency and Motion for Hearing on Insanity at Time of Execution on July 6, 1999, in Bradford County, Florida, pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.811 and 3.812. Further, Mr. Provenzano's counsel filed with this Court a Motion for Stay of Execution pending the outcome of the circuit court's ruling.

This Court entered a temporary stay of execution on July 6, 1999. This Court's order temporarily stayed the execution until 7:00 a.m., July 9, 1999, and appointed the Honorable Clarence Johnson to conduct proceedings pursuant to F. R. Crim. P. 3.811. Judge Johnson entered an order on July 7, 1999, denying an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Provenzano's motion. Mr. Provenzano filed a notice of appeal with this Court.

On July 8, 1999, Mr. Provenzano filed his brief, as well as a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus to declare execution by electrocution to be unconstitutional in its present condition, due to the horrific events surrounding the execution of Allen Davis. This Court entered its order requiring: (a) stay of execution of Mr. Provenzano until 7:00 a.m., September 14, 1999,

(b) filing of supplemental briefs no later than July 23, 1999. Oral argument was conducted on August 24, 1999, and an opinion was issued on August 26, 1999. This Court ordered an evidentiary hearing to be conducted on the issue of the Appellant's competency to be executed and appointed the Honorable Judge Bentley to preside.

On August 27, 1999, the Honorable Judge Bentley conducted a telephonic hearing. At the hearing, Judge Bentley set the evidentiary hearing to begin on August 31, 1999, and denied Appellant's motion for continuance. On August 30, 1999, Judge Bentley entered an Order to Transport, which included his ruling that the hearing would be extended to September 7, 1999, if necessary. Another telephonic hearing was conducted on August 30, 1999, wherein the court denied Appellant's renewal of a motion for continuance.

The evidentiary was hearing was conducted from August 31, 1999, through September 2, 1999. Judge Bentley entered his Order Finding Defendant Competent To Be Executed on September 3, 1999. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed on September 3, 1999.

B. Statement of Facts

On July 6, 1999, the three doctors assigned to examine Mr. Provenzano by the Governor, pursuant to Section 722.07, Florida Statutes, submitted a combined two-page report indicating that they had spent an 80-minute clinical interview with Mr. Provenzano. Additionally, they expended another 3.5 hours speaking to two correction officers and reviewing DOC medical

records. The doctors reported the following: Mr. Provenzano expressed symptoms that are incompatible with any known mental disorder, memory and cognitive deficits displayed were inconsistent with Mr. Provenzano's appearance and reported capability to carry out normal daily activities, that Mr. Provenzano is malingering a mental illness, and that he appreciates the nature and effect of the death penalty and why it is to be imposed on him.

Dr. Patricia Fleming examined Mr. Provenzano on July 5, 1999, and submitted her report². In her report she indicated that she had interviewed and/or examined Mr. Provenzano for five hours on July 5, 1999, eight hours on March 13 and 14, 1989, and had conducted additional interviews on September 24, 1991, and June 21, 1993. Dr. Fleming made the following observations and evaluations: Mr. Provenzano had some difficulty in identifying Dr. Fleming; motor activity was remarkable in the lack of movement; coordination was adequate, although his shackles prevented smooth walking; speech was expressionless but pressured; conversation was rambling with frequent changes of topics; Mr. Provenzano denied suicidal thoughts or plans but did say that he was depressed; Mr. Provenzano demonstrated difficulty staying on task, and his ability to retain information was significantly impaired; and ability to find commonalities in simple comparisons was markedly impaired. Dr. Fleming conducted a number of tests upon Mr. Provenzano, which showed impairment.

²Exhibit #7, R. 1131.

Dr. Fleming further indicates that Mr. Provenzano has suffered a decline since his 1989 screening. In expressing that Mr. Provenzano does not appreciate the nature of his execution and reason for it, Dr. Fleming states:

Mr. Provenzano knows, not thinks or believes, that the reason that he is to be executed is because "They" believe that he is Jesus Christ. Those who seek to execute him hate and fear Jesus Christ and if he is dead then Jesus Christ is dead and that is their goal. At this time Mr. Provenzano does not say that he is Jesus Christ because that would make it more likely that he would be executed. He states that he has a spirit, there is God's spirit in him, and he is also pressured and plagued by a legion of evil spirits who seek to overtake him. He continually has to battle against these spirits.

He does not connect the courthouse shooting with the execution. It is unrelated because he is innocent.

On August 27, 1999, a telephonic hearing was conducted by Judge Bentley and all attorneys concerned. The court indicated that the hearing would be set for Tuesday, August 31, 1999 [R 114]. Appellant's counsel objected to the date and indicated that Tuesday would be insufficient time to investigate and prepare for the hearing [R114]. The Court stated his concerns for extending the hearing as: "When we finish the hearing I need to prepare an order, the mechanical physical part of getting that done, plus there's a decision-making process part of that" [R121-122]. Appellant's counsel responded: "My only point being, is that hopefully my client's interests are not hurt by the time restraints..." [R122]. The Court overruled Appellant's counsel

for a continuance and set the hearing for Tuesday, August 31, 1999 [R124].

On August 27, 1999, Appellant's counsel faxed a preliminary witness list to the Court and the State, indicating that Dr. Fleming was unable to attend the hearing until September 7, 1999. Dr. Fleming submitted an affidavit, per the Court's request [R1878], stating the reason for her unavailability and expressing her opinion as to Appellant's competency to be executed [R1378].

I examined Mr. Provenzano for competency to be executed on July 4, 1999, and my complete findings are available in that report. It is my professional opinion that Mr. Provenzano is incompetent to be executed due to the severity of his mental illness. Thomas Provenzano does not appreciate or understand the fact of his impending execution and the reason for it. I regret my inability to participate in the hearing.

Another telephonic hearing was conducted on August 30, 1999. At the hearing, the Court [R66] and the state [R68] acknowledged that they had Dr. Fleming's affidavit. Appellant's counsel entered an oral motion for continuance [R66]. Based upon Dr. Fleming's affidavit of availability on September 7, 1999, and the Court's Order to Transport, Appellant's counsel requested the hearing be continued through September 7, 1999 [R67-69]. The Court did mention and entertain the possibility for extending the hearing until September 7, 1999 [R70]. However, the Court again denied Appellant's request for continuance [R78-79].

The evidentiary hearing began on Tuesday, August 31, 1999. The Appellant and the State called witness out of order as they were available. The Appellant introduced into evidence, by

stipulation, affidavits of five inmates at Union Correctional Institution, indicating that Mr. Provenzano continually acted with bizarre behavior. Susan Carey's affidavit was introduced, by stipulation, and indicated that Appellant had difficulty in understanding their conversation. Catherine Forbes, Mr. Provenzano's sister, testified that she visits Mr. Provenzano twice a week [R305]. She further testified that he doesn't understand why they are killing him [R305], and that he sends her stuff to read and explain to him because he doesn't understand [R306].

Laura Rothstein, Mr. Provenzano's niece, testified that she constantly receives documents from Mr. Provenzano for her to read and explain to them to him because he doesn't understand [R558].

Nicholas Welch, Mr. Provenzano's nephew, testified that he recently spoke to Mr. Provenzano. During the conversation, Mr. Provenzano at time will think that Nicholas is Mr. Provenzano's son rather than his nephew [R756].

Dr. DeOcampo, a licensed psychiatrist for the Department of Corrections, testified:

- "...from the record, based on my evaluation, he presented with auditory hallucinations and occasional delusional thinking. At one point there was, you know, mention of depression" [R221].
- "...On the second visit he came saying that he was hearing voices, but strictly on the left ear, and so, you know, at that point I decided since, based on the records and the total clinical picture, that I was going to try him on a little bit of antipsychotic medication" [R222].

Lisa Wiley, a psychological specialist for the Department of Corrections, testified:

- (1) that she met with Mr. Provenzano on a average of once per month since 1993, until his transfer to FSP in June, 1999 [R184].
- (2) that Mr. Provenzano engages in bizarre behavior such as: wears cardboard masks -- to keep out the evil spirits [R187], cloths tied around his face, being overdressed [R185].
- (3) that he has a habit of lying on the floor, which is not uncommon because of the heart. But he makes a little tunnel underneath his bed and drapes his blankets over and his sheet over [R185].
- (4) observed Mr. Provenzano talking out loud to no one in particular [R187-188].
- (5) that Mr. Provenzano volunteered that he thought he was Jesus Christ from time to time [R190].
- (6) that a review of a report she wrote indicated that Mr. Provenzano doesn't believe that he has to be strip searched when he sees his attorneys [R192].

A number of correction officers from Florida State Prison testified for the Appellant and for the State. Their testimony primarily related that Mr. Provenzano: kept himself clean, shaven, drank coffee, swept out his cell; appeared to read materials, didn't cause trouble, and conversed on occasions. However, Sgt. Hanson testified that Mr. Provenzano informed him that he hears voices [R249]. Sgt. Sanders testified that Mr. Provenzano wears a pillow tied around him [R277], and he wears a thermal shirt around his nose and mouth every day [R279, 281]. Sgt Ford testified that Mr. Provenzano wears a towel around his

mouth [R370]. Sgt. Fogg testified that Mr. Provenzano wears a cloth over his face [R384].

The three Doctors appointed to the commission to examine Mr. Provenzano testified that Mr. Provenzano understands "the nature and effect of the death penalty and the reason for it."

Dr. Parsons testified that:

- (1) She does not normally have other people in the room when she does an evaluation [R431].
- (2) There is no widely accepted standardized procedure for doing this type of evaluation [R432].
- (3) If she was not instructed by the Governor, she would not have had attorneys present [R432].
- (4) With more time, she would have talked to family, friends, people who have known him in the past and present [R433].
- (5) She would have liked to look at more records, but was under a time constraint [R434].
 - (6) In her experience, malingering is rare [R437].
- (7) The records she reviewed did not state that Mr. Provenzano was malingering [R437].
- (8) Given the time frame she was not able to do all of the things she would like to have done [R440].
- (9) There is a difference between factual understanding and rational understanding [R451].
- (10) That Mr. Provenzano understands factually the nature and effect of the death penalty [R452].
- (11) The correction officers made no mention of Mr. Provenzano acting in unusual behavior [R413].

Dr. Waldman testified that:

- (1) The corrections office indicated that Mr. Provenzano did not act unusual or bizarre [R507].
- (2) That Mr. Provenzano stated that he did not remember having a visit from his son and began tearing. Dr. Waldman believed that Mr. Provenzano knew exactly what was being asked

because Mr. Provenzano had a visit from his son and probably for the last time³ [R517].

- (3) That Mr. Provenzano is malingering [R540].
- (4) He did not perform other functions for the evaluation because they continuously busy [R576].
- (5) The correction officers did not tell him that Mr. Provenzano placed rags over his fact [R578].
- (6) The correction officers did not tell him that Mr. Provenzano mentioned that he was hearing voices [R579].

Dr. Meyers testified that:

- (1) The Governor's letter influenced the method and time to perform the evaluation [R721, 729].
- (2) There is no standardized method to perform evaluations [R732, 733].
 - (3) The evaluation was reliable or accurate [R735].
 - (4) Mr. Provenzano is malingering [R739].
- (5) An individual can be mentally ill and still malinger [R739].

Dr. Smith testified that:

(1) Dr. Smith opined that the evaluation by the commission doctors, as outlined by their report, was not an adequate evaluation [R695-698].

Dr. Pollack testified that:

- (1) That he could not make a determination of whether Mr. Provenzano was incompetent to be executed because he did not have enough information and that he need additional time to examine him [R316-317].
- (2) Dr. Pollack opined that the evaluation by the commission doctors, as outlined by their report, was not performed in an acceptable scientific method [R317-370].

³Mr. Provenzano has never had a visit from his son. He believes that his nephew is his son and he only visits by phone.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court ultimately blocked the Appellant's ability to investigate, prepare, and present evidence in order to meet his burden to establish his incompetence to be executed. The trial court set the hearing with only one working day for Appellant to obtain doctors willing and able to the examine Appellant and to testify. The trial court failed to extend the hearing to allow Appellant's primary witness to testify. The trial court sustained objections to questions which went to the heart of the State doctors' examinations and conclusions. The trial court expressed bias towards the Appellant's primary witness, which was shown by his comments on the record and failure to consider the witness as an expert in clinical psychology, even though the witness testified that she was entitled to the same rights and privileges as a Ph.D.
- 2. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 3.811(b) and Rule 3.812(e) are unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND VIOLATED APPELLANT'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BY FAILING TO PROVIDE A FULL AND FAIR HEARING AS TO APPELLANT'S COMPETENCY TO BE EXECUTED.

The Court abused it's discretion by denying Appellant's motions to continue.

On August 26, 1999, this Court entered its opinion declaring that the Appellant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. On August 27, 1999, Appellant's counsel was informed by Judge Bentley, via a telephonic conference, that the hearing would be conducted on Tuesday, August 31, 1999 [R114]. Appellant's counsel objected to the short notice to investigate and prepare [R114] and informed the court that the short time restraints might prejudice the Appellant [R122]. It appears from the record that the trial court's primary concerns about a continuance were:

"When we finish the hearing I need to prepare an order, the mechanical physical part of getting that done, plus there's a decisionmaking process part of that" [R122]; and

"Well, I'm not so sure that I'm in a position to enter a stay. The Supreme Court obviously can, but they haven't done that. They know what the time frame is, so they hadn't set the time for a hearing, but it seems to me that if I issued one, obviously, it might not stick, even if you are right that I have the authority to do it. That doesn't mean that it's going to prevail. So what I am saying, if I even thought about that, I would want some record assurances from you and your client that everybody understood that might have a dramatic effect on your time for appeal. Because there is no guarantee that the

⁴The trial court's order was issued and received in less than 24 hours from the close of the hearing.

Supreme Court would say well oh sure we will continue this. They may, they might not, I don't know. That is a concern of mine and I think that has to be balanced against your need to get ready for this hearing, which I appreciate, that there is a need" [R123].

The Court overruled the objection and set the hearing for Tuesday, August 31, 1999 [R124]. However, on page 2 of the trial court's order, he suggests that the reason he denied the continuance was:

"However, in light of the fact that Provenzano's counsel made the claim that Provenzano is not competent to be executed over one and one-half months ago, and therefore that counsel has had adequate time to prepare for this matter, the motion to continue was denied" [R89].

Nowhere in the transcript of the hearing held August 27, 1999, does the Court express the above reason for denial of Appellant's motion for continuance.

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