### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 96,453

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ACTIVE DEATH WARRANT

Appellee.

# APPEAL FROM JUDICIAL DETERMINATION OF COMPETENCY TO BE EXECUTED

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI

Assistant Deputy Attorney General Florida Bar No. 158541 Office of the Attorney General PL-01 The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

#### CAROL M. DITTMAR

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 503843 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

CO-COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

##

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

August 27, 1999, Affidavit of Patricia Fleming, Ed.D.<sup>5</sup>

The court held a telephonic hearing on Monday, August 30, in order to consider the issue of Dr. Fleming's availability. Judge Bentley recalled the prior representation that Dr. Fleming would be available on August 31, and noted that, although the affidavit indicated the conflicting training was for State of Wyoming employees, there was no explanation as to why Dr. Fleming needed to attend the training. Ultimately, CCRC's motion to continue was denied, but the court offered to accommodate Fleming's schedule by accepting her testimony out of order and via telephone.

In his order finding Provenzano to be competent, Judge Bentley

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Dr. Fleming is an Ed.D., or doctor of education in psychology, not a Ph.D. in clinical psychology (Order, p. 10; R. 98).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On Thursday, September 2, it was discovered that Dr. Fleming and her daughter were giving the training on September 2 (Order, p. 4; R. 92).

commented on his denial of the motion to continue:

Despite her references in the affidavit to computer training for State of Wyoming employees, Dr. Fleming is not, insofar as has been made known to this Court, an employee of the State of Wyoming. In fact, as Dr. Fleming testified at this matter, she is in private practice. So, it is unclear as to why she would be required to attend computer training for State of Wyoming employees. Further, if this training were of such importance, this Court is uncertain as to how Dr. Fleming could have forgotten about it and represented to Provenzano's counsel that she would be available to participate in this hearing.

If this matter had been delayed until the week of September 7, 1999, not only would it be difficult to conclude this matter in a period of time sufficient to enable the Florida Supreme Court to review these proceedings before Provenzano's scheduled execution date of September 14, 1999, but scheduling problems with other witnesses would have been created. Considering all of the circumstances, including the fact that this claim was raised by Provenzano's counsel over one and one-half months ago, the Court concluded that Dr. Fleming's affidavit did not set forth adequate grounds which would justify continuing this matter, and consequently, Provenzano's oral motion to continue was However, the Court advised Provenzano's counsel that Dr. Fleming could testify by telephone or video deposition, and that she could testify out of order. Further, the Court advised counsel that Dr. Fleming's testimony could be scheduled as early in the morning as necessary, which, given the time zone differences between here and Wyoming, would accommodate Dr. Fleming's schedule and avoid any conflict with the conference that she was attending or participating in.

(Order, p. 3-4; R. 91-92) (footnote omitted).

The State, unable to cross examine Dr. Fleming, was the only party that could possibly have been prejudiced by her reluctance to testify. Having the benefit of her written report, Provenzano had no reason to secure her attendance to defend her opinion. As noted by Judge Bentley, the State was able to eventually locate Dr.

Fleming, and she ultimately did testify at the hearing:

To begin with, the Court specifically notes that although she is one of, if not the most critical witness in this matter, the testimony of Patricia Fleming, Ed.D., presented at the hearing was extremely limited. At the start of the hearing, Provenzano's counsel stated that he was uncertain as to whether Dr. Fleming would be available to testify at the hearing because his office had been unable to reach her. From day one to day three of the hearing, multiple efforts were made by the Attorney General's Office to locate and contact Dr. Fleming. In fact, although Dr. Fleming was Provenzano's witness, the Attorney General's Office appeared to put forth more effort to locate her than Provenzano's counsel's office did. If Provenzano's counsel took strides to locate Dr. Fleming, other than calling her office a few times and leaving messages for her, then they did not make those efforts known to this Court.

Once Dr. Fleming was located and contacted via telephone, she declined to testify whatsoever regarding her opinions of Provenzano's competency to be executed. Specifically, she stated she did not have any of her materials with her and that she was unable to provide any testimony regarding Provenzano's competency to be executed. In fact, the Court was forced to order her to stay on the telephone line simply to answer some questions regarding her qualifications.

The State stipulated to the admission of Curriculum Vitae, which it rather Fleming's than Provenzano's counsel had obtained in an effort to determine Dr. Fleming's credentials, and the State stipulated to the admission of Dr. Fleming's report dated July 5, 1999, which she prepared after conducting her examination of Provenzano on July 4, 1999. However, the State would not stipulate that she was an expert in the field of forensic clinical psychology. Thus, the purpose of obtaining information from Dr. Fleming regarding her qualifications was to clarify exactly what Dr. Fleming's qualifications are, and to assist this Court determining what weight to give the report that she prepared after her July 4, 1999, examination Provenzano.

Dr. Fleming's brief testimony established that while she has experience in mental health, she is not a clinical psychologist, at least not as that term is used in Florida. Accordingly, she was accepted as an expert in mental health, but not as an expert in clinical psychology. The Court finds that her credentials are less impressive than the credentials of the other experts. For this reason, together with a consideration of her report, the Court finds her testimony is entitled to less weight than the testimony and/or reports of the other experts who were admitted as experts in psychiatry or clinical psychology.

Further, this Court is disturbed by Dr. Fleming's behavior, and is not satisfied with the reasons she gave for not being able to participate in this hearing. This Court has taken every effort to accommodate her in order for her to testify in this matter. Despite those efforts, she declined to accommodate this Court For that reason, this Court has given less whatsoever. weight to her July 5, 1999 report regarding Provenzano's competency to be executed.

Dr. Fleming never specifically opines in her report on the issue at hand, which is whether Provenzano understands the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it. She does state, however, that "[the role of the mental health professional in the competency to be executed evaluation is not as the decision maker, but the provider of information that would aid the court, tribunal, or jury in decision making." The only comments in Dr. Fleming's report which seem to address the issue before this Court are her comments on page nine of the report where she asked Provenzano "What is your main She wrote that he stated that he had no worry now?" worries, and that he does not think about the execution. Additionally, on page ten of her report, Dr. Fleming states that Provenzano does not connect the courthouse shooting with the execution.

Although she either inadvertently did not comment on whether Provenzano understands the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it, or she specifically chose not to render such an opinion in her July 5, 1999, report, in her affidavit dated August 27, 1999, in which she outlined her reasons for not appearing to testify in this matter, she specifically was able to reach a conclusion on this issue. Therein, she specifically states: "It is my professional opinion that Mr. Provenzano is incompetent to be executed due to the severity of his mental illness. Thomas Provenzano does not appreciate or understand the fact of his impending execution and the reason for it."

(Order, pp. 8-11; R. 96-99) (footnote omitted).

Provenzano has demonstrated no error in the trial court's refusal to continue this matter to hear further from Dr. Fleming, a woman whose bias in prior cases has not gone unnoticed by this See, <u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1991); see also, Brewer v. Reynolds, 51 F.3d 1519, 1524-27 (10th Cir. (noting conclusory and speculative nature of Fleming's evaluation, with diagnoses which conflicted with other expert testimony), <u>cert. denied</u>, 479 U.S. 871 (1996). Notably, her affidavit did not offer any explanation as to why she could not have testified on Tuesday, August 31, as initially represented. An agenda from the training demonstrates that it was a one day session with scheduled breaks, which was over at 4:30 p.m. (6:30 p.m. local time in Bartow) (R. 134-137). The judge expended great efforts in trying to secure Dr. Fleming's testimony, as is evident throughout the transcript of the three day hearing, and indicated his willingness to hold the hearing open through Friday, Sept. 3, had he received any assurance of getting her to testify at that time (T. Vol. II, p. 185; T. Vol. III, pp. 296-300, 350, 407-409; T. Vol. IV, pp. 563, 570-576; T. Vol. V, pp. 613-617, 623-624, 628-630, 636-646). His efforts were met only with Fleming's staunch refusal to discuss this case at any time before the following Tuesday, less than a week before the scheduled execution.

Since Provenzano was able to present Fleming's ultimate

conclusion that he was incompetent to be executed through admission of her report and affidavit, and yet was able to avoid having her cross examined by the State, he could not possibly have been prejudiced by this ruling. Thus, the only prejudice from her lack of preparation would accrue to the State. Clearly, Dr. Fleming was more beneficial to the defense as an unavailable witness, which may explain why, as Judge Bentley noted, the State put forth more effort in attempting to locate Dr. Fleming than did the defense.

The granting or denial of a motion to continue is a matter within the broad discretion of a trial judge. Gore v. State, 599 So. 2d 978, 984 (Fla.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1003 (1992). No abuse of discretion has been demonstrated based on Judge Bentley's refusal to delay these proceedings in order to secure a reluctant witness from across the country to reiterate in person what she had already said on paper. No new hearing is warranted by the judge's denial of the motion to continue.

### ISSUE III

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING EXPERT TESTIMONY OVER APPELLANT'S FRYE OBJECTION.

Provenzano may also challenge the trial court's evidentiary ruling to allow the expert testimony of the three psychiatrists from the Governor's Commission. Provenzano objected to the testimony of Dr. Parsons as inadmissible pursuant to <a href="Frye v. United">Frye v. United</a> States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), because the mental status examination conducted by the Commission purportedly was conducted by a procedure not generally accepted in the scientific community. Judge Bentley's order details his reason for denying the defense objection:

Defendant argues that the procedures provided under section 922.07, Florida Statutes, for the governor's proceedings to determine the competency of an individual to be executed are not consistent with the scientific generally accepted in procedures the scientific community, and therefore, that the procedure cannot pass the Frye test. Provenzano's main complaint about the procedure set forth in section 922.07 is that all three doctors, as well as the attorneys for Provenzano and the State, may be, and in Provenzano's case all were, present during the examination. Provenzano contends that this method of conducting a mental health examination is not scientifically accepted procedure, and that examination is not and cannot be effective with this many people in the room. Provenzano argues that since the procedure utilized by the three psychiatrists was not a scientifically accepted procedure, the procedure was unconstitutional and therefore, the testimony of these experts is inadmissible at the hearing before this Court.

In considering this argument, the Court did not take into the account the relaxation of the rules of evidence that is permitted in a hearing of this kind. Having said that, the Court finds that the opinions of the three

psychiatrists who were members of the commission appointed to examine Provenzano pursuant to section 922.07, Florida Statutes, are professional opinions to which the requirements of Frye do not apply. See Hadden v. State, 690 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1997). In Hadden, the court stated:

We did point out in Flanagan [v. State, 625] So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1993)] that the Frye standard for admissibility of scientific evidence is not applicable to an expert's pure opinion testimony which is based solely on expert's training and experience. See 625 So.2d at 828. While an expert's pure opinion testimony comes cloaked with the expert's credibility, the jury can evaluate testimony in the same way that it evaluates other opinion or factual testimony. Id. When determining the admissibility of this kind of expert-opinion testimony which is personally developed through clinical experience, the trial court must determine admissibility on the qualifications of the expert and the applicable provisions of the evidence code. We differentiate pure opinion testimony based upon clinical experience from profile and syndrome evidence because profile and syndrome evidence rely on conclusions based studies and tests. Further, we find that profile or syndrome evidence is not made admissible by combining such evidence with opinion testimony because combination is not pure opinion evidence based solely upon the expert's clinical experience.

Hadden, 690 So. 2d at 579-80.

Further, the testimony of these three doctors at the hearing was that although they might ideally prefer to have fewer people present in the room during an examination of an individual, and although in their past psychiatric experience in conducting forensic examinations, they ordinarily had not had as many people present in the room during the examination of individual, they were still able to form an opinion, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Provenzano understands the nature and effect of the death penalty and why it is to be imposed upon him.

(Order, pp. 6-7; R. 94-95) (footnote omitted). The court's reasoning and application of <u>Hadden</u> were correct. The opinions and conclusions of the psychiatrists that comprised the Governor's Commission were based on their training and experience, not on any novel scientific theory. Therefore, <u>Frye</u> did not apply and the trial court correctly permitted this testimony.

In addition, even if the <u>Frye</u> standard were to be applied to purely expert opinion, Provenzano did not meet his burden of establishing that the mental status examination conducted by the Governor's Commission did not meet standards generally accepted in the scientific community for these types of examination. Although Dr. Pollack testified that having three psychiatrists and three attorneys present for the examination provided less than optimal conditions and fell below generally accepted scientific standards, he stated that the evaluation in this case was **not** "done in a medically inappropriate manner" and, according to Dr. Pollack, any suboptimal evaluation would fall below the guidelines (T. Vol. II, pp. 173-177). Other testimony at the hearing established that there are, in fact, no generally accepted standards for conducting an evaluation of competency for execution (T. Vol. II, p. 264; T. Vol. IV, p. 495).

Furthermore, since it was not the State's burden to prove Provenzano to be competent, and Provenzano did not present any clear or convincing evidence of incompetency that needed to be rebutted by the challenged testimony, the result in this case would not have been any different even if none of this testimony had been admitted, and any possible error must therefore be deemed harmless. On these facts, no error has been demonstrated in the trial court's overruling of Provenzano's <u>Frye</u> objection, and no new hearing is warranted.

### ISSUE IV

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PROVENZANO'S REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINATIONS.

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